# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TADARRYL REW

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2009-KA-0646-COA

## STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

# CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. State of Mississippi
- 2. Tadarryl Rew, Appellant
- 3. Honorable E.J. (Bilbo) Mitchell, District Attorney
- 4. Honorable Lester F. Williamson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

This the 31 st day of Angust, 2009.

Respectfully Submitted,

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PLAIN ERROR IN GRANTING INSTRUCTION S-1, AS AMENDED, WHICH CONSTRUCTIVELY AMENDED THE INDICTMENT AND RENDERED IT FATALLY DEFECTIVE.
- II. DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN REQUESTING THE AMENDMENT TO INSTRUCTION S-1 THAT CONSTRUCTIVELY AMENDED THE INDICTMENT AND LESSENED THE STATE'S BURDEN OF PROOF AND BROADENED THE GROUNDS ON WHICH THE JURY COULD CONVICT REW.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Lauderdale County, Mississippi and four judgments of conviction entered against Tadarryl Rew for the following: one count of burglary of a dwelling (Count I), two counts of kidnaping (Counts II and III), and one count of felon in

possession of a firearm (Count IV). (C.P 46-50, Tr. 337, R.E. 14-19). Rew was adjudged a habitual offender under Mississippi Code Annotated Section 99-19-81, and sentenced to serve ten (10) years for burglary of a dwelling, ten (10) years for each kidnaping, to run concurrently, and one (1) year for felon in possession of a firearm. (C.P. 53-56, Tr. 362-64, R.E. 20-3). The trial court ordered the sentences in Counts II and III to run concurrently with each other, but consecutively with all other counts. (C.P. 53-56, Tr. 362-64, R.E. 20-3). The trial court denied Rew's motion for new trial and/or judgment notwithstanding the verdict. (C.P. 58-60, R.E. 24-6). Rew now appeals to this Honorable Court for relief..

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In the early morning hours of May 21, 2008, Officer Sabanneo Terrell, of the Meridian Police Department, was called to the Village Apartments in response to a reported disturbance involving a gun. (Tr. 84-85, 87, 103). When he arrived, Officer Terrell noticed a broken window to the left of the apartment door. (Tr. 87). He also noticed what appeared to be blood, on the ground below the window. (Tr. 87, 106). According to Latasha Lewis, the resident of the apartment, the blood was Rew's; however, the incident causing this injury occurred two days before—on Monday, May 19, 2008. (Tr. 127).

Backup arrived, and Officer Terrell knocked on the door; but no one responded. (Tr. 87). Officer Terrell then walked around to the back of the apartment, where he noticed a "bent up" window screen lying on the ground next to an open bedroom window that had one broken glass pane. (Tr. 88, 105). He peered through the window and saw "[a man later identified as Rew] walking from the front of the house . . . past the entry to the bedroom on the right-hand side and he went to the rear bedroom." (Tr. 89, 108). Officer Terrell testified that the light was off in the bedroom with the broken glass. (Tr. 105). Officer Terrell walked back around to the front to meet other officers,

when the front door opened, and a man later identified as Jermaine walked out with his hands up. (Tr. 90, 109). The man kept saying "I'm not the one you're looking for." (Tr. 90).

Officer Terrell and Officer John Griffith then entered the apartment, and Rew walked out of the bathroom. (Tr. 91, 111). The officers ordered Rew to lay down and put his hands out; he complied; and the officers secured him. (Tr. 92). In the rear bedroom, officers found two people on the bed; Officer Terrell noticed no physical injuries on them. (Tr. 94, 112).

Officer Terrell then went into the other bedroom—the bedroom with the broken window—where he found a cellular phone and a handgun underneath a chest of drawers. (Tr. 95, 106). He noticed a bullet hole in the door to this bedroom; however, he searched the bedroom and found no shell casing. (Tr. 99, 102-03, 106).

Officer Terrell patted Rew down for weapons and transported him to the police station; he noticed no cuts or blood on Rew (Tr. 102, 107, 114-15).

Latasha Lewis had a daughter with Rew, and Rew lived with Lewis at her apartment at The Village Apartment Complex until May 11, 2008, when Rew and Latasha had an argument about their daughter, and Latasha no longer allowed Rew in her apartment. (Tr. 123-25, 135).

On the night in question, Latasha was staying at her mother's residence; Latasha's cousin, Jermaine Lewis (Jermaine), and his friends Darryl Franklin (Darryl) and Vanecia Middlebrook (Vanecia) were staying at Latasha's apartment with her permission. (Tr. 130, 145). In the early morning hours of May 21, 2008, Latasha had some phone calls from Rew's cell phone; however, she did not answer them. (Tr. 130-31). She also testified that she received a call from Jermaine's cell phone (made to her mother's house) at about 4:00a.m. (Tr. 131, 138, 143).

According to Latasha, she answered this call and discovered Rew on the other end of the line pretending to be Jermaine. (Tr. 131, 138). Latasha testified that Rew said "It's me Jermaine, why

don't you let Tadarryl see the baby?" (Tr. 132, 138-40). The phone then hung up, and Jermaine's cell phone called her cell phone. (Tr. 138, 143). According to Latasha, she answered this call, but the phone hung up again. (Tr. 139-40, 14143). Latasha then called Jermaine's cell phone from her cell phone and asked Rew how he got in her house, and Rew said "you must not love your cousin [Jermaine]. I got a gun to his head and I'll kill him." (Tr. 132, 140, 143). Latasha also testified that Jermaine said, "Tasha, let Tadarryl see the baby. Don't listen to Stephanie and Tiffinay because they ain't nothing but B words." (Tr. 132, 140, 143). According to Latasha, she heard one gun shot through the phone and she thought Rew shot Jermaine. (Tr. 132-33).

Latasha then woke up her sister, who called the police. (Tr. 132-33). Latasha testified that she stayed on the phone with Rew until the police arrived, at which point Rew hung up. (Tr. 134). According to Lewis, her back bedroom window was intact, and there was no bullet hole in her bedroom door before May 21, 2008. (Tr. 128-129). She also testified that she did not have a gun in her apartment. (Tr. 140-41).

Jermaine testified that he and his friends Darryl and Vanecia were staying at Latasha's apartment with her permission on May 21, 2008. (Tr. 144-45). Jermaine testified that he was asleep in Latasha's bedroom when he heard glass crack. (Tr. 147, 163-65). He then got up and checked the hallway; when he returned to the bedroom, he saw Rew coming through the window. (Tr. 147-48, 163-65). Significantly, Jermaine testified that, when Rew saw him he asked, "What are you doing in my mother fucking house?" (Tr. 149).

Jermaine went on to testify that Rew pointed a gun at him and told him to "get back." (Tr. 149). According to Jermaine, Rew then told Vanecia (who was in the bed) to get up, and he ordered Jermaine and Vanecia to get in the closet. (Tr. 149-50, 164). Jermaine testified that Rew was trying to call Latasha from his (Rew's) cell phone, but she did not answer. (Tr. 150, 164-65). He testified

that Rew then grabbed his (Jermaine's) cell phone and ordered Jermaine to call Latasha. (Tr. 150-51). Jermaine testified that, contrary to Latasha's testimony, niether he nor Rew dialed Latasha's mother's house-phone from his (Jermaine's) cell phone. (Tr. 165-66). Jermaine testified that Rew said to Latasha, "So you don't love your cousin," and then Rew fired a shot toward Jermaine and Vanecia. (Tr. 150-52).

About ten minutes later, Jermaine saw police lights ("The white lights, big bright light.") flashing through the back window. (Tr. 154-55). Contrary to Officer Terrell's testimony, Jermaine testified that the bedroom light were on at this time. (Tr. 167). According to Jermaine, Rew then panicked, said that he was a "three-time loser," and told him to say that they were all watching television. (Tr. 154-55). Jermaine then walked into the other bedroom where Darryl was, told him what was going on, and then walked to the front door. (Tr. 155-56).

Jermaine testified that, as he was walking to the front door to exit, he saw Rew "bending down like he was trying to hide a gun or something back towards [Latasha's] room." (Tr. 156). He also said that, as the police ordered him on the ground, he saw Rew walking to the bathroom. (Tr. 157). Jermaine also identified the gun admitted into evidence at trial (Exhibit S-2) as the gun Rew had on the night in question. (Tr. 158-59).

Darryl testified that he Jermaine and Vanecia were hanging out on the night in question until about 2:00a.m., when he went to sleep in a bedroom by himself. (Tr. 172). He testified that the light in his bedroom was on, but he was a "heavy sleeper." (Tr. 172). He testified that Jermaine woke him up and told him that "Tasha's boyfriend, he put them in the closet and stuff." (Tr. 172-73). Jermaine testified that he saw Rew come out of "the other bedroom" with a gun in his hand and walk "toward the living room and the bathroom." (Tr. 174). Rew told him to be quiet. (Tr. 175). Darryl testified that the police were outside the apartment by this time, and Jermaine told him and

Rew that he was going to walk outside. (Tr. 177). After Jermaine left, Vanecia came into the bedroom and sat on the bed. (Tr. 177). Darryl stayed in the room until the police walked in and discovered him. (Tr. 178-79). Darryl did not hear a gunshot that night. (Tr. 175).

Jamie Johnson, a forensic scientist with the Mississippi Crime Laboratory, testified that performed a gunshot residue analysis on Rew, and the results were negative—no gunshot residue on Rew. (Tr. 208). He also stated that washing one's hands could remove gunshot residue particles. (Tr. 209).

Jamie Bush, the regional laboratory manager of the Meridian facility of the Mississippi Crime Laboratory, testified that he tested the gun at issue as well as seven live .380 caliber cartridges for fingerprints, but found no prints sufficient to be used for identification. (Tr. 230-31, 239).

Vanecia Middlebrooks testified that she and Jermaine were asleep in Latasha's bedroom on the night in question when she heard the window shatter. (Tr. 247). She testified that Jermaine got up to check things out, and she saw a person she later identified as Rew in the room. (Tr. 247). Vanecia testified that Rew turned the lights, and she noticed a gun in his hand. (Tr. 249). According to Vanecia, he then ordered her to get in the closet. (Tr. 249). Vanecia also testified that she saw Rew point a gun at Jermaine, and she Rew shot the gun while she and Jermaine were in the closet. (Tr. 252). Vanecia testified that Rew "kept saying something about his baby and Tasha wouldn't let him see his baby." (Tr. 251). She heard Rew use the telephone but did not know whose phone he used. (Tr. 251-52). She testified that, when the police began knocking, Rew panicked and told them to act like nothing happened. (Tr. 253). Vanecia testified that she saw Rew hide the gun "under the bed." (Tr. 253, 264). She claimed that, at one point, she saw Rew put a sock on his hand, but she never saw him wipe the gun down. (Tr. 264). She also testified that she heard water running in the bathroom after police knocked on the door, but she did not know who was in the bathroom.

(Tr. 264-65). She also testified that the bedroom light was turned off when the police arrived. (Tr. 259). Vanecia did not see any cuts or blood on Rew. (Tr. 265). She testified that she was Rew take off a blue collared shirt, leaving an undershirt on his body. (Tr. 265-66).

Andy Havard, a detective of with the Meridian Police Department, arrived at the scene and took photographs and collected evidence. (Tr. 269). Detective Havard testified that he recovered a gun under the dresser where the cell phone was lying. (Tr. 272, 275). He also recovered the seven bullets from the gun—two were jammed in the chamber and five remained in the clip. (Tr. 273-74). Detective Havard searched for shell casings (empty shells) but found none. (Tr. 274). He testified that he tested the screen lying outside the bedroom window for fingerprints, but he found none. (Tr. 278).

At trial, the State offered Instruction S-1, which stated as follows:

The Court instructs the jury that, should you find from the evidence in this case, beyond a reasonable doubt that:

- 1. On or about the 21st day of May, 2008, in Lauderdale County, Mississippi;
- 2. The Defendant, Tadarryl Rew, did willfully, unlawfully and feloniously break and enter the dwelling house of Latasha Lewis, with the intent to kidnap therein;

then it is your duty to find Tadarryl Rew guilty of Burglary of a dwelling under Count I.

Should the State fail to prove any one or more of these essential elements beyond a reasonable doubt, then you shall find Tadarryl Rew not guilty under Count I.

(Tr. 294, C.P. 34, R.E. 13). The trial court then asked if defense counsel had any objection to the instruction and the following exchange took place:

[Defense Counsel]: And the problem I have with it is: With the intent to kidnap. I understand the State's reasoning for putting that there because the definition of burglary is—

[Trial Court]: Do you want me to substitute with the intent to commit a crime

therein?

[Defense Counsel]: yes, sir.

[Trial Court]: Any objection to that?

[Prosecutor]: No, Your Honor. Just as long as it is in the record for the Supreme Court or whoever that it was at the defendant's request.

(Tr. 294-95). The trial court went on the grant the defendant's request, and gave Instruction S-1 to the jury with the words "kidnap therein" interliniated and substituted with the words "commit a crime therein." (Tr. 296, C.P. 34, R.E. 13).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance in requesting the amendment to Instruction S-1 and the trial court erred in granting Instruction S-1, as amended. The amendment in Instruction S-1 broadened the grounds upon which the jury could convict Rew. Therefore, the change to the instruction constituted a constructive amendment to the indictment, which is per se reversible error. Therefore, the trial court, in giving Instruction S-1 to the jury committed plain, reversible error, and Rew is entitled to a new trial.

Additionally, defense counsel was ineffective for requesting the change in the first place. There is no conceivable reasonable basis for requesting to relax the State's burden of proof and broaden the grounds upon which the jury could convict Rew for the crime charged to proportions which would render the indictment fatally defective. Thus, defense counsel's performance in this regard was deficient. The instruction, as amended, renders it impossible to know which crime the jurors, as a whole or individually, determined that Rew intended to commit at the time he broke and entered Lewis' apartment. Therefore, the result of trial was unreliable, and, but for the deficiency, there is a reasonable likelihood that the outcome would have been different. Accordingly, Rew is

entitled to a new trial.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PLAIN ERROR IN GRANTING INSTRUCTION S-1, AS AMENDED, WHICH CONSTRUCTIVELY AMENDED THE INDICTMENT AND RENDERED IT FATALLY DEFECTIVE.

Appellant concedes that the trial court amended Instruction S-1 at the behest of defense counsel. As argued *infra*, defense counsel was ineffective for requesting this change. However, as explained below, the trial court committed plain reversible error in granting Instruction S-1, as amended, because his doing so amounted to a constructive amendment of the indictment, which is per se reversible error.

"[T]he people of Mississippi have [, pursuant to the provisions of Article 3, Section 27 of the Mississippi Constitution,] ordained that they not be prosecuted for felonies except upon the indictment by a grand jury. It has been the law since 1858 that the court has no power to amend an indictment as to the matter of substance without the concurrence of the grand jury by whom it was found, although amendments as to mere informalities may be made by the court." *Quick v. State*, 569 So. 2d 1197, 1199 (Miss. 1990) (citing *McGuire v. State*, 35 Miss. 366 (1858)).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that:

A constructive amendment of the indictment occurs when the proof and instructions broaden the grounds upon which the defendant may be found guilty of the offense charged so that the defendant may be convicted without proof of the elements alleged by the grand jury in its indictment.

Bell v. State, 725 So. 2d 836, 855-56 (¶58) (Miss. 1998), (citing United States v. Miller, 471 U.S. 130, 105 S.Ct. 1811 (1985)). Bell also instructed that:

A constructive amendment of an indictment occurs when the jury is permitted to convict the defendant upon a factual basis that effectively modifies an essential element of the offense charged. . . . In such cases, reversal is automatic because the

defendant may have been convicted on a ground not charged in the indictment..."

Bell v. State, 725 So. 2d 836, 855-56 (¶58) (Miss. 1998) (quoting United States v. Adams, 778 F.2d 1117, 1123 (5th Cir. 1985)). As explained by the Court in Bell, "not all variances between the indictment and instructions constitute a constructive amendment, nor do they rise to plain error. The central question is whether the variance is such as to substantially alter the elements of proof necessary for a conviction." Bell, 725 So. 2d at 855 (¶61) (Miss. 1998).

In the instant case, Rew was indicted for burglary of a dwelling house under Mississippi Code Annotated Section 97-17-23, which provides as follows:

Every person who shall be convicted of breaking and entering the dwelling house or inner door of such a dwelling house of another, whether armed with a deadly weapon or not, and whether there shall be at the time some human being in such a dwelling house or not, with the intent to commit some crime therein, shall be punished by imprisonment in the Penitentiary not less than three (3) years nor more than twenty-five (25) years.

Miss. Code Ann. § 97-17-23 (Rev. 2006).

While the statute refers only to the "intent to commit some crime therein," Mississippi case law provides that an indictment for burglary must specify the underlying crime the defendant is alleged to have intended. See e.g., *Lambert v. State*, 462 So. 2d 308, 311 (Miss. 1984) ("[A]n indictment for burglary that does not specify what crime the accused intended to commit is fatally defective.") (citing *Newburn v. State*, 205 So. 2d 260 (Miss. 1967); *State v. Buchanan*, 75 Miss. 349, 22 So. 875 (1898)); *Irby v. State*, 4 So. 2d 881 (Miss. 1941) ("The defect is fatal and fundamental, and failure to file demurrer thereto does not preclude appellant from challenging its validity upon appeal.").

The indictment against Rew charged that he intended to commit the crime of kidnaping.

However, the jury was instructed that Rew could convicted for burglary if he intended broke an

entered Lewis' dwelling with the intent to commit a crime therein. This change clearly permitted broadened the grounds upon which the jury could have found Rew guilty of the offense charged such that he may have been convicted on a ground not charged in the indictment by the grand jury. Therefore, Instruction S-1, as amended, constituted an impermissible constructive amendment to the indictment; the trial court committed reversible error in granting it; and Rew is entitled to a new trial.

II. DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN REQUESTING THE AMENDMENT TO INSTRUCTION S-1 THAT CONSTRUCTIVELY AMENDED THE INDICTMENT AND LESSENED THE STATE'S BURDEN OF PROOF AND BROADENED THE GROUNDS ON WHICH THE JURY COULD CONVICT REW.

Although this Court ordinarily does not, it may address a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel on direct appeal if "the record affirmatively shows ineffectiveness of constitutional dimensions." Fannings v. State, 997 So. 2d 953, 965 (¶37) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (quoting Wilcher v. State, 863 So. 2d 776, 825 (¶171) (Miss. 2003)). To establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must show that: (1) trial counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) trial counsel's deficient performance prejudiced his or her defense. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984); Ravencraft v. State, 989 So. 2d 437, 443 (¶31) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). The defendant bears the burden of proving both prongs and faces a rebuttable presumption that trial counsel's performance "is within the wide range of reasonable conduct and that his attorney's decisions were strategic." Id. (citing Edwards v. State, 615 So. 2d 590, 596 (Miss. 1993)). The defendant may rebut this presumption, however, by "demonstrat[ing] that, but for his attorney's unprofessional errors, the outcome of his trial would have been different." Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052).

Under the first prong, "the errors of counsel's performance must be so serious that they prevented counsel from functioning as the Sixth Amendment guarantees." *Havard v. State*, 928 So.

2d 771, 781 (¶8) (Miss. 2006) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052). Under the second prong, "the errors of counsel must have been so serious that they deprived the defendant of a fair trial, that being a trial with a reliable result." *Id*.

Defense counsel's decision to request the amendment to Instruction S-1 (and thereby the indictment) is simply inexplicable. There is no logical or strategic justification for broadening the grounds upon which the jury could convict Rew. Moreover, from the evidence, Rew's only reasonable defense to the burglary charge was that he did not intend to commit a kidnaping at the time he broke and entered the bedroom. To this end, there was evidence that Rew did not know that anyone was in Lewis' apartment until the breaking and entering was complete. Jermaine testified that, when Rew saw him he asked, "What are you doing in my mother fucking house?" (Tr. 149). And Lewis testified that she did not talk to Rew (or have the opportunity to inform him that others were at her apartment) until he called her from Jermaine's phone. (Tr. 130-32). Accordingly, defense counsel's performance was deficient.

Defense counsel's deficiency was also prejudicial, in that, it eliminated (or rendered moot)
Rew's best defense, and at the same time broadened the grounds upon which the jury could convict
him and constructively amended the indictment the extent that it was fatally defective. There is no
way to know what crime the jurors, as a whole or individually, determined that Rew intended to
commit at the time he broke and entered Lewis' apartment. For this reason there is a reasonable
likelihood that a different result would have attained, but for defense counsel's deficiency.
Therefore, defense counsel's deficiency resulted in prejudice to Rew's defense, as it deprived Rew
of a fair trial with a reliable result. Accordingly, Rew is entitled to a new trial.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Based on the propositions briefed and the authorities cited above, together with any plain

error noticed by the Court which has not been specifically raised, Rew respectfully requests that this honorable Court reverse the conviction, sentence and fines entered in the trial court and remand this case for a new trial.