IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TADARRYL REW

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-0646-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JEFFREY A. KLINGFUSS
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant Tadarryl Rew, was indicted by the grand jury of Lauderdale County for the crimes of Burglary of a Dwelling, Kidnaping, Felon in Possession of a Firearm, and Kidnaping all as an habitual offender. After a trial by jury, Judge Lester F. Williamson, Jr., presiding defendant was found guilty of all four counts. In a separate hearing defendant was adjudged to be an habitual offender within the statutory provision of *Miss. Code Ann.* § 99-39-81 and sentenced to wit: Burglary of a dwelling - 15 years; Kidnaping - 10 years; Possession of Firearm - 1 year; Kidnaping 10 years.

After denial of post-trial motions this instant appeal was timely noticed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Interestingly, the Statement of Facts given by appellate counsel starts with the arrival of the police.... it is the position of the State the facts and crimes involved took place before the police arrived.

It all started when a young woman (Latasha) had a disagreement with this defendant and changed the locks on her apartment to prevent him from gaining access. (Tr.123-25, & 135). Defendant got angry and broke into the apartment by prying off a screen and breaking a pane of the window to gain access and crawl into the apartment. Defendant was a previously convicted felon (arson & statutory rape) and entered the apartment – which was being occupied by three friends of the woman who rented the apartment. She had taken to spending nights elsewhere in fear of defendant's actions.

Anyway, defendant entered the apartment and encountered some of the occupants (Jermaine, Darryl and Vanecia). Defendant showed a gun, herded two of them into a closet, threatened them, fired a shot to show his willingness and capability to commit additional felonies. (Presumably).

Defendant then took one of his victim's cell phone and tried to call the woman with whom he really had the beef... she immediately recognized the number (as that of her friend, staying at her apartment) and answered. She recognized defendant's

voice and realized, he must be in her apartment. Defendant essentially confirmed this an threatened the life of his victims. (tr. 132, 140, 143).

Latasha then had the police contacted and sent to the apartment...

The jury heard all the testimony, consistent, inconsistent, physical exhibits and photographs and found defendant guilty of burglary, two counts of kidnaping and felon in possession of a firearm.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING AN AMENDMENT TO THE INSTRUCTION THAT WAS REQUEST BY THE DEFENSE. ADDITIONALLY DEFENSE WAIVED ANY INCONSISTENCY BETWEEN THE INSTRUCTION AND THE INDICTMENT.

Defendant sought to have mention of the specific felony of kidnaping eliminated as the crime defendant intended to commit upon his burglarizing the apartment. The trial court agreed, and trial counsel waived any potential conflict as to the wording of the burglary offense in the indictment. The State too acquiesced in the amendment, as long as the record was clear it was at the request and behest of the defense.

The trial judge nor the State should be held in error for giving an instruction that adequately instructed the jury on the offense for which he was indicted.

II. DEFENDANT HAD CONSTITUTIONALLY EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Trial counsel's performance was not deficient as there was a strategic reason to seek the amendment to the State's instruction to eliminate any mention of specific felonies consistent with other stipulations of the defense.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING AN AMENDMENT TO THE INSTRUCTION THAT WAS REQUEST BY THE DEFENSE. ADDITIONALLY DEFENSE WAIVED ANY INCONSISTENCY BETWEEN THE INSTRUCTION AND THE INDICTMENT.

In this initial allegation of error defendant argues the trial court erroneously instructed the jury by the giving of Jury Instruction S-1, as amended. (C.p. 34).

Looking to the transcript it was the defense, as a part of trial strategy, that requested the change in the jury instruction. Tr. 294-296. The judge agreed, the State agreed with the caveat that the record reflect it was at the request of defense counsel. Also, the trial court specifically asked the defendant if he was waiving any inconsistency that such an instruction would present as it related to the language of the indictment. Again, trial counsel waived any objection.

¶ 47. Notwithstanding the fact that Vickers now argues against the sufficiency of his own instruction, it has been consistently held that when reviewing the adequacy of jury instructions they are to be read and considered as a whole.

Vickers v. State, 994 So.2d 200, 213 (Miss.App. 2008).

Interestingly, appellate counsel realizes this claim of error is attenuated in favor of the State – because defense counsel got exactly what he asked for. The trial court can hardly now be called in error when every effort was made to make defense

counsel aware of, and waive the same, potential claims. Neither should the State be held in error for defendant's waiver of having the jury instructed as to which specific crime defendant intended to commit as an element of the burglary.

So the State will argue that even with the amendment (which is now claimed as error) the jury was adequately instructed on the elements of the offense. This nearly said same factual and legal argument was heard by the Mississippi Court of Appeals and found wanting. *Alesich v. State*, 2009 WL 1856660 (¶¶ 8-4-15)(Miss.App. 2009).

The instructions, read together adequately followed the statutory language for the offenses. In this case, as in *Alesich*, defendant did not present any defense.... oh, to be sure he attorney argued about the lack of evidence, conflicts in the evidence, but the instruction as amended did not affect this defendant's case. In fact it made him easier to argue the witnesses were not credible and there was just confusion and he was caught up in it... This is not, and cannot be held error.

However, appellate counsel now argues, the action of trial counsel in asking for this amendment to the instruction should be analyzed as an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, which take us to our next response.

II.

DEFENDANT HAD CONSTITUTIONALLY EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Lastly, appellate counsel succinctly argues trial counsel's performance was deficient by amending the jury instruction for burglary to allow the State to offer proof of intent to 'commit any crime' within. (S-1, as amended, c.p. 34). (See rationale of Alesich, supra.)

Appellate counsel has correctly and succinctly cited the appropriate standard of *Strickland* to be applied in analyzing and ineffective assistance claim. Now on appeal it is argued there was no logical or conceivable for submitting the instruction as amended—thereby, as they now claim, broadening the ground upon which the jury could convict defendant. (Def.br. p.12).

¶ 31. We cannot fathom what additional instructions McKee believes should have been offered. Taking the instructions given as a whole, the jury was correctly informed of the State's obligation to prove the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. That is sufficient. Heidel v. State, 587 So.2d 835, 842 (Miss.1991). Trial counsel

McKee v. State, 878 So.2d 232, 240 (Miss.App. 2004).

It would appear, arguably, that defense counsel at trial was trying to argue that defendant didn't know there were people in the apartment and that in the darkness and confusion much was mis-construed and he (maybe) didn't force Jermaine and Vanecia into the closet – there them being no kidnaping.

Further, this concept pressed by trial counsel was to limit or eliminate any mention of 'felony' crimes. Trial counsel, very specifically in a motion in limine sought to eliminate or diminish the mention of the number and type of previous convictions defendant had – a necessary element for the crime of felon in possession of a firearm.

So, the defense strategy, was to eliminate any mention of specific crimes in the charging, description, or elements of an offense. That he essentially was breaking into his own apartment... Well, such is a clear trial strategy and does not constitute deficient performance.

- ¶ 21. There is a presumption that a trial attorney's performance is competent. Edwards v. State, 615 So.2d 590, 596 (Miss.1993). To succeed on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, therefore, an appellant must prove that counsel's overall performance was deficient and that his defense was prejudiced by his attorney's inadequate performance. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Whether the elements of the Strickland test are satisfied is determined by looking at the totality of the circumstances. Cole v. State, 666 So.2d 767, 775 (Miss.1995).
- ¶ 22. Under Strickland, it further is presumed that the conduct of a trial attorney is reasonable and that decisions made during trial are strategic. Edwards, 615 So.2d at 596. This presumption includes decisions about whether to object to proffered testimony. Cole, 666 So.2d at 777. As discussed in Issues I and II, supra, there was no error in admitting the deputy clerk's testimony or in stipulating to the handwriting expert's testimony. Therefore, there is no merit to Waldon's *269 complaint with these aspects of his attorney's performance.

Waldon v. State, 749 So.2d 262 (Miss.App. 1999)(emphasis added).

Having failed to me to show deficient performance defendant is not entitled to any relief under the *Strickland* analysis.

¶ 23. There is no constitutional right then to errorless counsel. Mohr v. State, 584 So.2d at 430; Cabello v. State, 524 So.2d 313, 315 (Miss.1988) (right to effective counsel does not entitle defendant to have an attorney who makes no mistakes at trial; defendant just had right to have competent counsel). If the post-conviction application fails on either of the Strickland prongs, the proceedings end. Neal v. State, 525 So.2d 1279, 1281 (Miss.1987); Mohr, 584 So.2d at 430.

Walker v. State, 863 So.2d 1 (Miss. 2003)(emphasis added).

Consequently, no relief should be granted based upon this claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the arguments presented herein as supported by the record on appeal the State would ask this reviewing court to affirm the verdicts of the jury and sentences of the trial court.